

EXHIBIT A – Ordinance No. 42-17

CHAPTER 37. – DELRAY BEACH CODE ENFORCEMENT

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Sec. 37.01. - INTENT.

It is the intent of this Chapter to promote, protect, and improve the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City by authorizing ~~the creation of the Code Enforcement Board and creating the position of Code Enforcement Special Magistrate~~ with authority to impose administrative fines and other noncriminal penalties to provide an equitable, expeditious, effective, and inexpensive method of enforcing the City codes and ordinances ~~in force in the City~~ where a pending or repeated violation continues to exist, ~~including, but not limited to those codes listed in Section 37.02.~~

Sec. 37.02. - ENFORCEMENT OF CERTAIN CODES AUTHORIZED.

- (A) ~~The Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate shall, as described in Section 37.01 above, have ~~concurrent the authority and~~ jurisdiction to hear and decide cases involving alleged non-criminal violations of: ~~which are not criminal in nature where a pending or repeated violation of the City codes as they now exist or as they may be amended by ordinance from time to time has been committed.~~
- (1) Any codes, ordinances, or resolutions of the city;
- (2) Any condition of any development order or any final action of the planning, zoning, and appeals board; or
- (3) Any statute, code, rule, or regulation incorporated into the city's code of ordinance by reference.
- (B) Those code enforcement cases that are open and pending as of the effective date of this section, as evidenced by a notice of violation having been issued or the matter having been set for hearing, shall be heard by the special magistrate.
- (C) The authority granted herein is not exclusive and shall not prohibit the city from enforcing its codes by any other legal means.

Sec. 37.03. - DEFINITIONS.

For the purpose of this Chapter the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning.

~~Board.~~ ~~The Code Enforcement Board of the City.~~

City Attorney. The City Attorney or Assistant City Attorney.

City Commission. The legislative body of the City.

Code Enforcement Clerk. The town clerk or any other employee so designated by the City Manager.

Code enforcement officers or building/ Code Enforcement Officers. Those employees or other agents of the City designated by ordinance or duly authorized and appointed by the City Manager, whose duty it is to enforce city codes and to present code violations to the Code Enforcement Board.

Codes. The Chapters of this Code of Ordinances described in Section 37.02 above.

Notice or written notification. Notice shall be provided to the alleged violator ~~by certified mail, return receipt requested, by hand delivery, by the Sheriff or other Law Enforcement Officer, Code Inspector or other person designated by the local governing body; by leaving notice in the violator's usual place of residence with any person residing therein who is above the age of fifteen (15) years of age and informing such person of the contents of a notice or at the option of the Code Enforcement Board by publication pursuant to F.S. Section 162.12(2), Fla. Stat. In lieu of publication, such notice may be posted for at least ten (10) days in at least two (2) locations, one of which shall be the property upon which the violation is alleged to exist and the other of which shall be at City Hall.~~

Notice to appear. ~~A written order issued by a Code Enforcement Officer in lieu of physical arrest requiring a person accused of violating the law to appear in a designated court or governmental office at a specified date and time.~~

Repeat violation. A violation of the provision of any code or ordinance by a person who has been previously found through a Code Enforcement Board or any other quasi-judicial or judicial process, to have violated or who has admitted violating the same provision within five (5) years prior to the violation, notwithstanding the violations occur at different locations.

Special Magistrate. The hearing officer appointed by the City Commission to preside over code enforcement hearings, who must be an attorney and a member in good standing of the Florida Bar for a minimum of five (5) years.

Violator. The person responsible for the code violation, which in the appropriate circumstances shall be the perpetrator of the violation or the owner of the real property upon which the violation occurred, or both.

Sec. 37.04. - PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER SUPPLEMENTAL.

As set forth in F.S. Section 162.13, nothing contained in this Chapter shall prohibit the City from enforcing its codes by any other means. It is the legislative intent of this Chapter to provide an additional or supplemental means of obtaining compliance with the codes set forth in Section 37.02.

Secs. 37.05 – 37.14. – RESERVED.

CODE ENFORCEMENT BOARD

~~Sec. 37.15. – COMPOSITION; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS.~~

~~The Code Enforcement Board shall be composed of seven (7) regular members, along with two (2) alternate members, appointed by the City Commission. Appointments to both regular and alternate member positions shall be on the basis of experience or interest in the fields of zoning and building control. The regular and alternate membership of the Board shall, whenever possible, include an architect, a business person, an engineer, a general contractor, a subcontractor, and a Realtor.~~

~~Sec. 37.16. -- TERMS OF APPOINTMENT.~~

~~(A) — In order that terms of office of all regular members of the Code Enforcement Board will not expire at the same time, the initial appointments to the Board shall be as follows:~~

- ~~(1) — Two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of one year.~~
- ~~(2) — Three (3) members shall be appointed for a term of two (2) years.~~
- ~~(3) — Two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of three (3) years.~~

~~(B) — Thereafter, all appointments shall be made by the City Commission for a term of three (3) years.~~

~~Sec. 37.17. -- QUALIFICATIONS OF MEMBERS.~~

~~Each regular member and alternate member appointed to the Code Enforcement Board shall possess, in addition to experience or interest in the fields of zoning and building control, the following minimum qualifications, where appropriate:~~

~~(A) — The architect and the engineer shall be Registered under the laws of the State regulating the practice of architecture and engineering, or shall possess similar qualifications under the laws of other states, or shall have actual experience deemed by the City Commission to be equivalent to such registration.~~

~~(B) — The general contractor and the subcontractor shall possess a valid certificate of competency and occupational license recognized and accepted under the laws of the State and the ordinances of the City regulating the business of contracting, and where required, State registration as a contractor, or shall possess similar qualifications under the laws of other states, or shall have actual experience deemed by the Commission to be equivalent to a certification.~~

~~(C) — The Realtor shall be licensed under the laws of the State licensing real estate brokers as either a broker or a salesperson, or shall possess similar qualifications under the laws of other states, or shall have actual experience deemed by the Commission to be equivalent to licensing.~~

~~(D) — The businessperson shall be actively engaged in any lawful business within the City and shall hold a current and valid occupational license issued by the City, or shall be an officer or employee of a business entity holding a current and valid occupational license issued by the City, or shall have actual experience deemed by the Commission to be equivalent to a certification.~~

~~(E) — Each regular and alternate member of the Code Enforcement Board shall be a resident of the City.~~

~~Sec. 37.18. -- OFFICERS; ALTERNATE MEMBERS.~~

~~(A) — The Code Enforcement Board officers shall consist of a Chairperson, a Vice-Chairperson, and other officers as the Board shall deem necessary.~~

~~(B) — Officers of the Board shall be elected from among its members by a majority vote of the membership at the Board's first meeting after their initial appointment, and annually thereafter.~~

~~(C) — A member of the Board may be elected to serve as an officer without restriction as to the number of terms served.~~

~~(D) — The alternate members of the Board may attend all meetings of the Board but shall act only in the absence, disability, or disqualification of a regular member thereof, and the minutes of the Board's meeting shall reflect in whose stead the alternate member is acting.~~

~~Sec. 37.19. -- QUORUM.~~

~~As set forth in F.S. Section 162.05(3), four (4) or more members of the Code Enforcement Board shall constitute a quorum.~~

~~Sec. 37.20. -- COMPENSATION.~~

~~As set forth in F.S. Section 162.05(3), members of the Code Enforcement Board shall serve without compensation, but may be reimbursed for travel expenses, mileage expenses, and other per diem expenses as may be authorized by the Commission and approved by the City Manager.~~

~~Sec. 37.21. -- AUTHORITY TO ADOPT RULES AND REGULATIONS.~~

~~The Code Enforcement Board may adopt those rules and regulations as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Chapter or the Local Government Code Enforcement Board Act (F.S. Sections 162.01 et seq.) as same now exist or as hereafter may be amended, which the Board finds necessary to carry out the provisions of this Chapter, subject to approval of the City Commission.~~

~~Sec. 37.22~~15. -- APPOINTMENT OF ~~BOARD~~ CLERK; OTHER STAFF.

~~The City Manager shall appoint a City employee to be the Code Enforcement Board Clerk to assist the Special Magistrate, who shall perform the functions assigned to the Clerk as set forth in this Chapter. For the purpose of administering this Chapter, the Board Special Magistrate may call upon the City manager to furnish other city employees as may be necessary to carry on or assist the Board the Special Magistrate in performing its his or her functions and duties under this Chapter.~~

~~Sec. 37.23. -- VACANCIES AND REAPPOINTMENT.~~

~~As set forth in F.S. Section 162.05(2), a member may be reappointed for one successive term, upon approval of the City Commission. Appointments to fill any vacancy to the Code Enforcement Board shall be for the remainder of the unexpired term of office.~~

~~Sec. 37.24. -- NONATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS; REMOVAL FROM OFFICE.~~

~~As set forth in F.S. Section 162.05(2), if any regular Code Enforcement Board member fails to attend two (2) out of three (3) successive meetings without cause and without prior approval of the Chairperson, the Board shall declare the member's office vacant, and the City Commission shall promptly fill that vacancy. The members shall serve at the pleasure of the Commission and may be suspended for cause at any time by a majority vote of the Commission; and may also be removed for cause at any time by a majority vote of the Commission according to the procedures for removal of Board members as set forth in this Code.~~

Sec. 37.3516. - CITY ATTORNEY; ROLE AND AUTHORITY.

As set forth in F.S. Section 162.05(4), the City Attorney shall either ~~be counsel to the Code Enforcement Board~~ serve as the Special Magistrate or shall represent the City by presenting cases before the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate, but in no case shall the City Attorney serve in both capacities. Whenever the City Attorney serves in the capacity of presenting cases before the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate, he shall have full prosecutorial discretion, including, but not limited to the right to negotiate a plea with a violator and present that plea to the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate for approval, to recommend the disposition of a case to the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate, and to decline to prosecute a case, similar to the discretion exercised by the State Attorney in criminal cases.

Sec. 37.3617. - INITIATION OF ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES.

(A) *[Code Enforcement Officer.]* It shall be the duty of the Code Enforcement Officer to initiate enforcement proceedings of the various codes. ~~However, no member of the Code Enforcement Board shall have the power to initiate such enforcement proceedings.~~

(B) *[Notice of Violation.]* Except as provided in paragraphs (C) and (E), if a violation of the codes described in Section 37.02 is found, the Code Enforcement Officer shall notify the violator and give him a reasonable time to correct the violation. Should the violation continue beyond the time specified for correction, the Code Enforcement Officer shall notify the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Code Enforcement Clerk who shall notify the Special Magistrate and request a hearing. ~~The Board Code Enforcement Clerk, through its clerical staff, shall schedule a hearing. Nothing set forth herein shall preclude the City Manager from establishing a date and time for routinely scheduled and/or specially set code enforcement hearing, and wWritten~~ notice of such hearings shall be hand-delivered or mailed as provided by this Chapter to the violator. If the violation is corrected and then recurs, the case shall be presented to the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate even if the violation has been corrected prior to the ~~Board~~ code enforcement hearing, and the notice shall so state.

(C) *[Request for Hearing.]* If the Code Enforcement Officer has reason to believe a violation or the condition causing the violation presents a serious threat to the public health, safety, and welfare or if the violation is irreparable or irreversible in nature, he shall make a reasonable effort to notify the violator and may immediately notify the ~~Board~~ Code Enforcement Clerk, who shall schedule the matter for and request a hearing.

(D) *Fire Prevention Code Violations.* If the violation arose under Chapter 96, the Code Enforcement Officer or the Chief of the Fire Department may, at his option, either proceed under this Chapter or pursuant to the authority and procedures set forth in Chapter 96. Nothing in this Chapter shall be construed or applied to limit the authority of the Chief of the Fire Department or of any fire marshal or fire inspector to proceed pursuant to Chapter 96.

(E) *[Repeat Violations.]* If a repeat violation is found, the Code Enforcement Officer shall notify the violator but is not required to give the violator a reasonable time to correct the violation, and may immediately issue a citation. The Code Enforcement Officer, upon notifying the violator of a repeat violation, shall notify the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Code Enforcement Clerk, who shall schedule the matter for and request a hearing. The Code Enforcement ~~Board Clerk, through its clerical staff,~~ shall schedule a hearing; and shall provide written notification to the violator. The case may be presented to the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate even if a repeat violation has been corrected prior to the ~~Board's~~ Magistrate's hearing and the notice shall so indicate. If the repeat violation has been corrected, the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate retains the right to schedule a hearing to determine costs and impose the payment of reasonable enforcement fees upon the repeat violator. The repeat violator may choose to waive his or her rights to this hearing and pay said costs as determined by the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate.

(F) *[Violation of Code or Ordinance.]* ~~Notwithstanding Section 37.36(B), a Code Enforcement Officer may issue a notice to appear at any hearing conducted by a County Court if the officer, based upon personal investigation, has reasonable cause to believe that the person has violated a code or ordinance. If a person issued a notice to appear under this Section refuses to sign such notice, the Code Enforcement Officer has no authority to arrest such person.~~

~~(G)~~ *[Written Notice Required.]* Prior to issuing a notice to appear, a Code Enforcement Officer shall provide written notice to the person that the person has committed a violation of a code or ordinance and shall establish a reasonable time period within which the person must correct the violation. ~~Such time period shall be no fewer than five (5) days and no more than thirty (30) days.~~ If, upon personal investigation, a Code Enforcement Officer finds that the person has not corrected the violation within the prescribed time period, a Code Enforcement Officer may issue a notice to appear to the person who has committed the violation. A Code Enforcement Officer is not required to provide the person with a reasonable time period to correct the violation prior to issuing a notice to appear and may immediately issue a notice to appear if a repeat violation is found, or if the Code Enforcement Officer has reason to believe that the violation presents a serious threat to the public health, safety or welfare, or if the violation is irreparable or irreversible.

~~(H)~~~~(G)~~ If the owner of property which is subject to an enforcement proceeding before ~~an enforcement board, special master,~~ a Special Magistrate or court transfers ownership of such property between the time the initial pleading was served and the time of the hearing, such owner shall:

- (1) Disclose, in writing, the existence and the nature of the proceeding to the prospective transferee; and
- (2) Deliver to the prospective transferee a copy of the pleadings, notices, and other materials relating to the code enforcement proceeding received by the transferor; and
- (3) Disclose, in writing, to the prospective transferee that the new owner will be responsible for compliance with the applicable code and with orders issued in the code enforcement proceeding; and

(4) File a notice with the code enforcement official of the transfer of the property, with the identity and address of the new owner and copies of the disclosures made to the new owner, within five (5) days after the date of the transfer.

(5) A failure to make the disclosures described in ~~Sections 37.36(H)~~ subsections (1) – (4)(3) before the transfer creates a rebuttable presumption of fraud. If the property is transferred before the hearing, the proceeding shall not be dismissed, but the new owner shall be provided a reasonable period of time to correct the violation before the hearing is held.

Sec. 37.3718. - SCHEDULING OF HEARINGS.

Upon request of the Code Enforcement Officer, or at such other times as may be necessary, the ~~Chairperson of the Code Enforcement Board~~ Code Enforcement Clerk may call ~~a~~ hearings of the Board. Hearings may also be called by written notice signed by at least three (3) members of the ~~Board~~. Hearings may also be set by the ~~Board~~ City Manager, or designee, for a specific day and time in each and every month, unless canceled by the ~~Board~~ City Manager, or designee. At any hearing the ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate may set a future hearing date. The ~~Board~~ City Manager, or designee, shall attempt to ~~convene~~ hold code enforcement hearings no less frequently than once every two (2) months, but ~~it may meet~~ hearings may be held more or less often as the demand necessitates.

Sec. 37.3819. - FORMAL HEARING.

(A) ~~When the Code Enforcement Board Clerk sets a formal hearing to consider an alleged violation, the Clerk shall set the time and date for the formal hearing and notify the alleged violator pursuant to the procedures for notice set forth in the definition of notification in Section 37.03, and the City Attorney. The violator shall be given at least seven (7) days' written notice of the formal hearing. Each case before the Special Magistrate shall be presented by the City Attorney or by a member of the city staff.~~

(B) The Special Magistrate shall proceed to hear the cases on the agenda for that day. All testimony shall be under oath and shall be recorded. The enforcement board Special Magistrate shall take testimony from the code inspector and alleged violator. At the time and place set for the formal hearing, the Board shall hear and consider all testimony offered and shall examine and consider all evidence presented. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board Special Magistrate shall issue findings of fact, based on evidence of record and conclusions of law, and shall issue an order affording the proper relief consistent with powers granted herein. The finding shall be by motion approved by a majority of those members present and voting, except that at least four (4) members of the Board must vote in order for the action to be official. The order may include a notice that it must be complied with by a specified date and that a fine may be imposed if the order is not complied with by said date and, under the conditions specified in Section 162.09(1), Fla. Stat., the cost of repairs may be included along with the fine if the order is not complied with by said date. A certified copy of such order may be recorded in the public records of the county and shall constitute notice to any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest, or assigns if the violation concerns real property, and the findings therein shall be binding upon the violator and, if the violation concerns real property, any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest, or assigns. If an order is recorded in the public records pursuant to this subsection and the order is complied with by the date specified in the order, the enforcement board shall issue an order acknowledging compliance that shall be

recorded in the public records. A hearing is not required to issue such an order acknowledging compliance.

Sec. 37.3920. - CONFLICT OF INTEREST; HEARING PROCEDURES.

(A) ~~No Code Enforcement Board member~~ The Special Magistrate shall not act in any case in which that member he/she has a conflict of interest.

(B) ~~As required by F.S. Section 162.07(1), all hearings and proceedings of the Board shall be open to the public, and any person whose interests may be affected by the matter before the Board shall be given an opportunity to be heard. Minutes of all Board hearings shall be kept by the Board Clerk. As required by F.S. Section 162.07(2), each case before the Board shall be presented by the City Attorney or by a member of the administrative staff of the City. As required by F.S. Section 162.07(3), the enforcement board~~ Special Magistrate shall take testimony from the Code Enforcement Officer and the alleged violator and may also allow testimony and evidence from witnesses if called by either the City Attorney, Code Enforcement Officer, or the alleged violator.

~~(1) — If the alleged violator fails to attend the Code Enforcement Board hearing after proper notice has been given, then the Code Enforcement Board may proceed against the alleged violator by moving for summary adjudication.~~

~~a. — All motions for summary adjudication must be supported by affidavits from the Code Enforcement Officer attesting to the existence of a violation and demonstrating proper notice to the alleged violator.~~

~~(C) — Hearings shall be informal and need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses. They shall, however, be conducted in accordance with accepted parliamentary procedures relative to motions, votes, and decisions. Fundamental due process shall be observed and shall govern all hearings.~~

~~(D) — All relevant evidence shall be admitted if, in the opinion of the Board, it is the type of evidence upon which reasonable and responsible persons would normally rely in the conduct of business affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make the evidence inadmissible over objections in civil actions. The Chairperson of the Board may exclude irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence.~~

~~(E)~~(C) Special Magistrate shall hear and consider all relevant, competent, and substantial testimony offered and shall examine and consider relevant, competent, and substantial evidence presented. Hearsay evidence may be accepted for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but this hearsay evidence shall not in and of itself be considered sufficient to support a finding or decision unless the evidence would be admissible over objections in a civil action.

~~(F)~~(D) Each party to the hearing shall have the right to:

- (1) Call and examine witnesses;
- (2) Introduce exhibits;
- (3) Cross examine opposing witnesses;
- (4) Impeach witnesses; and
- (5) Rebut evidence.

~~(G)(E)~~ The alleged violator has the right to be represented by an Attorney at the formal hearing.

~~(H)~~ ~~As required by F.S. Section 162.07(3), all testimony before the Board shall be under oath and shall be recorded. The alleged violator or the City may cause the proceedings to be recorded by a certified court reporter or other certified recording instrument.~~

~~(F)(F)~~ The ~~Board~~ Special Magistrate shall have the power in accordance with F.S. Section 162.08, to:

- (1) Adopt rules for the conduct of ~~its~~ hearings not otherwise in conflict with this Chapter or F.S. Sections 162.01 et seq.;
- (2) Subpoena alleged violators and witnesses to its hearings. Subpoenas may be served by the City Police Department;
- (3) Subpoena evidence to its hearings;
- (4) Take testimony under oath;
- (5) Issue orders having the force of law to command whatever steps are necessary to bring a violation into compliance.

~~(G)(G)~~ If the City prevails in prosecuting a case before the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate, it shall be entitled to recover all costs incurred in prosecuting the case before the Board.

~~(K)(H)~~ The alleged violator may settle their case by entering into a stipulated agreement with the City, which the City may present before the Special Magistrate for ratification.

Sec. 37.40~~21~~. - SUBPOENA POWERS AND PROCEDURES.

The City, the ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate, or the alleged violator may request that witnesses, records (including surveys, plats, and other materials), and other evidence, be subpoenaed to any formal hearing. Subpoenas may be served by Officers of the City Police Department ~~or other persons designated by the City.~~ The ~~Chairperson of the Board~~ Special Magistrate shall provide the ~~Clerk of the Board~~ Code Enforcement Clerk with sufficient signed and blank witness subpoenas to be provided to alleged violators and the City for the purpose of subpoenaing witnesses, records, and other evidence. The alleged violator shall pay to the City a fee ~~of twenty-two dollars (\$22.00) as established by resolution of the City Commissioner or fifty (\$50.00), whichever is greater,~~ for each subpoena issued.

Sec. 37.41. - DECISIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ORDERS.

~~(A) — *Enforcement Orders Final Subject to Right of Appeal.* Every enforcement order of the Code Enforcement Board shall be final subject to the right of the aggrieved party including, without limitation, the City or the violator, to appeal a ruling or order of the Board Special Magistrate to the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida in and for the county. This appeal shall not be a hearing de novo, but shall be limited to appellate review of the record created before the Code Enforcement Board. An appeal shall be filed within thirty (30) days of the execution of the order to be appealed.~~

~~(B) — *Contents of Enforcement Orders.* Every enforcement order of the Board shall be in writing and shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law, and shall indicate the vote upon the order.~~

~~(C) — *Disposition of Enforcement Orders.* Every enforcement order shall be signed by the Chairperson and shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk. A copy of the signed order shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the violator.~~

~~(D) — *Time Limit for Making Decision.* The Board Special Magistrate shall in every proceeding reach a decision without unreasonable or unnecessary delay and shall, in all instances, reach a decision within twenty (20) calendar days from the date of the hearing.~~

~~(E) — *Compliance by City Employees.* All City employees shall take action as necessary in accordance with a decision of the Board.~~

~~(F) — *[Recording in Public Records.]* A certified copy of a Code Enforcement Board order may be recorded in the public records of the County and shall constitute notice to any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest or assigns if the violation concerns real property and the finding therein shall be binding upon the violator and, if the violation concerns real property, any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest or assigns. If an order is recorded in the public records of Palm Beach County pursuant to this subsection and the order is complied with by the date specified in the order, the Code Enforcement Board shall issue an order acknowledging compliance that shall be recorded in the public records. A hearing before the Code Enforcement Board is not required to issue a Board order acknowledging compliance.~~

Sec. 37.4222. - ADMINISTRATIVE FINES; COSTS OF REPAIR; LIENS.

(A) ~~An enforcement board~~ A Special Magistrate, upon notification by the code ~~inspector~~officer that an order ~~of the enforcement board~~ has not been complied with by the set time or, upon finding that a repeat violation has been committed, may order the violator to pay a fine in an amount specified in this Section for each day the violation continues past the date set by the ~~enforcement board~~ Special Magistrate for compliance or, in the case of a repeat violation, for each day the repeat violation continues, beginning with the date the repeat violation is found to have occurred by the code ~~inspector~~ officer. In addition, if the violation is a violation described in Section 37.3617(C), the ~~enforcement board~~ Special Magistrate shall notify the local governing body, which may make all reasonable repairs which are required to bring the property into compliance and charge the violator with the reasonable cost of the repairs along with the fine imposed pursuant to this Section. Making such repairs does not create a continuing obligation on the part of the local governing body to make further repairs or to maintain the property and does not create any liability against the local governing body for any damages to the property if such repairs were completed in good faith. If a

finding of a violation or a repeat violation has been made as provided in this part, a hearing shall not be necessary for issuance of the order imposing the fine. If after due notice and hearing, a ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate finds a violation to be irreparable or irreversible in nature, it may order the violator to pay a fine as specified in subsection (B)(1).

(B) (1) A fine imposed pursuant to this Section shall not exceed ~~two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00)~~ one thousand (\$1,000) per day for a first violation and shall not exceed ~~five hundred dollars (\$500.00)~~ five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per day for a repeat violation and, in addition, may include all costs of repairs pursuant to subsection (A). However, if a ~~Code Enforcement Board~~ Special Magistrate finds the violation to be irreparable or irreversible in nature, it may impose a fine not to exceed ~~five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00)~~ fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) per violation. ~~If the violation is a violation described in Section 99.03, the fine imposed shall not exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per day per violation for a first violation, shall not exceed five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) per day per violation for a repeat violation, and shall not exceed a maximum of fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000.00) per violation if a Code Enforcement Board finds the violation to be irreparable or irreversible in nature.~~

(2) In determining the amount of the fine, if any, the ~~enforcement board~~ Special Magistrate shall consider the following factors:

- (a) The gravity of the violation;
- (b) Any actions taken by the violator to correct the violation; and
- (c) Any previous violations committed by the violator.

(3) ~~An enforcement board~~ A Special Magistrate may reduce a fine imposed pursuant to this Section.

(4) A certified copy of an order imposing a fine, or a fine plus repair costs, may be recorded in the public records and thereafter shall constitute a lien against the land on which the violation exists and upon any other real or personal property owned by the violator. Upon petition to the Circuit Court, such order shall be enforceable in the same manner as a court judgment by the sheriffs of this State, including execution and levy against the personal property of the violator, but such order shall not be deemed to be a court judgment except for enforcement purposes. A fine imposed pursuant to this part shall continue to accrue until the violator comes into compliance or until judgment is rendered in a suit filed pursuant to this Section, whichever occurs first. A lien arising from a fine imposed pursuant to this Section runs in favor of the ~~local governing body~~ City, and the ~~local governing body~~ City may execute a satisfaction or release of lien entered pursuant to this Section. After three (3) months from the filing of any such lien which remains unpaid, the ~~enforcement board~~ Special Magistrate may authorize the ~~local governing body~~ City Attorney to foreclose on the lien or to sue to recover a money judgment for the amount of the lien plus accrued interest. No lien created pursuant to the provisions of this part may be foreclosed on real property which is a homestead under Section 4, Art. X of the State Constitution. The money judgment provisions of this Section shall not apply to real property or personal property which is covered under Section 4(a), Art. X of the State Constitution. Actions for money judgments under this Section may be pursued only on fines levied after October 1, 2000.

Sec. 37.4323. - DURATION OF LIEN

No lien provided by this Chapter or under the authority of F.S. Sections 162.01 et seq., shall continue for a longer period than twenty (20) years after the certified copy of an order imposing a fine has been recorded, unless within that time an action to foreclose on the lien is commenced in a court of competent jurisdiction. In an action to foreclose on a lien, the prevailing party is entitled to recover all costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, that it incurs in foreclosure. The continuation of the lien effected by the commencement of the action shall not be good against creditors or subsequent purchasers for valuable consideration without notice, unless a notice of lis pendens is recorded.

Sec. 37.4424. - ~~INJUNCTIVE RELIEF~~ APPEALS.

~~In the event the Code Enforcement Board believes that a violation presents a serious threat to the public health, safety, and welfare, the Board Special Magistrate may direct the City Attorney to seek appropriate injunctive relief in the name of the City from the Circuit Court. An aggrieved party, including City, may appeal a final administrative order of the Special Magistrate to the circuit court. Such an appeal shall not be a hearing de novo but shall be limited to appellate review of the record created before the Special Magistrate. An appeal shall be filed within 30 days of the execution of the order to be appealed.~~

Sec. 37.25. – NOTICES.

(A) All notices must be provided to the alleged violator as follows:

- (1) By certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address listed in the tax collector's office for tax notices or the address listed in the Palm Beach County property appraiser's database. Additional notice may also be provided to any other address the City may find for the property owner. For property owned by a corporation, notices may be provided by certified mail to the registered agent of the corporation.
- (2) By hand delivery by the sheriff or other law enforcement officer, code inspector, or other person designated by the City;
- (3) By leaving the notice at the violator's usual place of residence with any person residing therein who is above the age of fifteen (15) years and informing such person of the contents of the notice; or
- (4) In the case of commercial premises, leaving the notice with the manager or other person in charge.

(5) If any notice sent by certified mail is not signed as received within thirty (30) days after the postmarked date of mailing, notice may be provided by posting as described hereinbelow.

(6) In addition to providing notices as set forth above, at the option of the City Manager, or designee, notice may also be served by publication or posting as follows:

(a) If publication is the method of notice to be utilized, such notice shall be published once during each week of four (4) consecutive weeks, (four (4) publications being sufficient) in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the code enforcement board is located. The newspaper shall meet the requirements as are prescribed under F.S. Ch. 50, as amended, by legal and official advertisements.

(b) Proof of publication shall be made as provided in F.S. §§ 50.041 and 50.051.

(c) In lieu of publication as described in paragraph (a), such notice may be posted for at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing or prior to the expiration of any deadline contained in the notice, in at least two locations, one (1) of which shall be the property upon which the violation is alleged to exist and the other of which shall be at Delray Beach City Hall.

(d) Proof of posting shall be by affidavit of the person posting the notice, which affidavit shall include a copy of the notice posted, and the date and places of its posting.

(7) Notice of publication or posting may run concurrently with, or may follow, an attempt or attempts to provide notice by hand delivery or by mail as required above.

(8) Evidence that an attempt has been made to hand deliver or mail notice as provided above, together with proof of publication or posting as provided herein, shall be sufficient to show that the notice requirements of this section as set forth in conformance with F.S. Ch. 162, have been met, without regard to whether or not the alleged violator actually received such notice.

Secs. 37.2426 – 37.3446. – RESERVED.

~~Sec. 37.45. -- SUPPLEMENTAL CODE ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES.~~

~~(A) — Intent:~~

~~(1) — It is the intent of the City Commission to promote, protect, and improve the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Delray Beach, Florida, and to provide an equitable, expeditious, effective and inexpensive method of enforcing codes and ordinances of the City.~~

~~(B) — Definitions:~~

~~(1) — For the purposes of this Chapter of the Code of Ordinances, the following terms, phrases, words, and their derivations shall have the meaning as defined:~~

~~(a) — Citation or Civil Violation Notice shall mean a notice of violation with a civil penalty and fine, as provided for in the Code.~~

- ~~(b) Code means collectively the City of Delray Beach Code of Ordinances, as may be amended from time to time, any applicable sections of the Minimum Housing Code, SBCCI, as may be amended from time to time, or the applicable Florida Building Code, as may be amended from time to time.~~
- ~~(c) Code Enforcement Officer means any authorized agent or employee of the City whose duty it is to assure compliance with the Code.~~
- ~~(d) Hearing Officer is an individual, appointed pursuant to the Code of Ordinances, who is authorized to conduct hearings on appeals of civil violation notices. A hearing officer enters findings of fact, conclusions of law, and may adjust fines imposed pursuant to civil violation notices depending on evidence and testimony entered at the hearing.~~
- ~~(e) Notice shall be provided to alleged violator(s) or property owner(s) by certified mail, return receipt requested, by hand delivery or posting, or as provided in this ordinance and Chapter 162 of the Florida Statutes.~~
- ~~(f) Law Enforcement Officer means any authorized agent or employee of the City's Police Department.~~

~~(C) Civil Offenses/Penalties; Intent and Purpose. The violation of any provision of any of the ordinances of the City of Delray Beach or the applicable Minimum Housing or Florida Building Code, shall constitute a civil offense punishable by civil penalty as provided herein. The civil citation process is intended to supplement the Code Enforcement Board Special Magistrate process and other enforcement processes by providing an additional enforcement process that will expedite the correction of certain types of code violations. These types of violations include, but are not limited to: itinerant types of sign violations which may be quickly rectified (banners, balloons, sidewalk, snipe signs), unlicensed contractors, contractor licensing requirements, overflowing dumpsters, trash piles, hatracking of trees, failure to secure job sites during hurricane warnings, and operating vendor type businesses without license.~~

~~(D) Qualifications, Appointment and Removal, Compensation of Hearing Officers.~~

- ~~(1) For the purpose of this article, appointments of Hearing Officers shall be made by the City Commission.~~
- ~~(2) Hearing Officers shall be lawyers in good standing, licensed to practice law in Florida.~~
- ~~(3) Appointments shall be made for a term of one year. Hearing Officers may be reappointed or removed at the discretion of the City Commission.~~
- ~~(4) Hearing Officers shall be compensated at a rate to be determined by the City Commission.~~
- ~~(5) If a Hearing Officer is removed from a case, the case may be assigned to another Hearing Officer.~~

~~(E) Powers of Hearing Officer. Under this article, Hearing Officers shall have the power to:~~

- ~~(1) Apply the rules for the conduct of quasi-judicial hearings adopted by the City Commission.~~
- ~~(2) Subpoena violators and witnesses for hearings. Subpoenas shall be served by the Police Department or by the city staff, or as provided by ordinance.~~
- ~~(3) Subpoena evidence.~~
- ~~(4) Take testimony under oath.~~
- ~~(5) Assess and order the payment of fines as provided according to ordinance and statute.~~
- ~~(6) Enter findings of fact, conclusions of law, and issue orders having the force of law to command whatever steps are necessary to bring a violation into compliance.~~

~~(F) Attorney to Serve as Counsel. The City Attorney (or his/her designee) shall provide legal advice to City Staff, if requested.~~

~~(G) Authority to Initiate Enforcement Proceedings. Enforcement proceedings shall be initiated as a result of an observed violation by a code/law enforcement officer. Hearing Officers shall not have authority to initiate such enforcement procedures.~~

~~(H) Enforcement Procedures; Contents and Services of Notices/Civil Violations.~~

- ~~(1) A code/law enforcement officer who finds a violation of the code shall issue a notice stating that the violator has committed a violation of the code and shall specify a reasonable time period within which the violator must correct the violation. This determination shall be based on consideration of fairness, practicality, ease of correction, ability to correct, severity of violation, or nature, extent, and probability of danger or damage to the public, degree of nuisance to neighbors and neighborhood, and other relevant factors relating to the reasonableness of the time period prescribed.~~
- ~~(2) A code/law enforcement officer is authorized to issue a citation to a person when, based upon his/her personal investigation, the inspector has reasonable cause to believe that the person has committed a civil infraction in violation of a duly enacted section of the City's Code of Ordinances, the Minimum Housing Code, and the applicable Florida Building Code, as may be amended from time to time.~~
- ~~(3) If, upon his/her personal investigation, a code/law enforcement officer finds that the person has not corrected the violation within the time period, a code/law enforcement officer shall issue a citation to the person or legal entity who has committed the violation. A code/law enforcement officer does not~~

~~have to provide the violator with a reasonable time period to correct the violation prior to issuing a citation and may immediately issue a citation if a repeat violation is found or if the Code Compliance Officer has reason to believe that the violation presents a serious threat to the public health, safety, or welfare, or if the violation is irreparable or irreversible. Unlicensed contractors, working under a stop work order, performing work without permits, tree abuse, illegal dumping, failure to secure a job site during a hurricane warning, and similar situations do not require prior notice and may result in an immediate citation.~~

- ~~(4) A citation issued by a code/law enforcement officer shall be in a form prescribed by the City and shall contain:~~
- ~~a. The date and time of issuance.~~
 - ~~b. The name and address of the person or entity to whom the citation is issued.~~
 - ~~c. The date and time the civil infraction was committed.~~
 - ~~d. The facts constituting reasonable cause.~~
 - ~~e. The number or section of the code violated.~~
 - ~~f. The name of the code/law enforcement officer.~~
 - ~~g. The procedure for the person or entity to follow in order to pay the civil penalty or to contest the citation.~~
 - ~~h. The applicable civil penalty if the person or entity elects to contest the citation and that the violator may be liable for costs associated with conducting the administrative hearing.~~
 - ~~i. The applicable civil penalty if the person or entity elects not to contest the citation.~~
 - ~~j. A conspicuous statement that if the person or entity fails to pay the civil penalty within the time allowed, or fails to file an appeal to contest the violation within fourteen (14) days of service of the notice, he/she shall be deemed to have waived their right to contest the citation and that, in such case, a finding may be rendered against the person for an amount up to the maximum civil penalty.~~
- ~~(5) After issuing a citation, the code/law enforcement officer shall deposit the original with the clerk of the code enforcement division.~~
- ~~(6) Any person who willfully refuses to sign and accept a citation issued by a code/law enforcement officer shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree punishable as provided in Section 775.082, Florida Statutes, as amended, or Section 775.083, Florida Statutes, as amended.~~
- ~~(7) All notices required by the code shall be provided to the alleged violator by certified mail, return receipt requested; overnight courier; by hand delivery by a law enforcement officer of the City, Code Enforcement Officer, or other person designated by the City; or by leaving the notice at the violator's usual place of residence with someone residing at the residence above fifteen (15)~~

~~years of age and informing such person of the contents of the notice; and may include posting at site of violation.~~

~~(8) — Such notice may be posted for at least ten (10) days in at least two (2) locations, one of which shall be the property upon which the violation is alleged to exist and the other which shall be, in the case of municipalities, at the primary municipal government office. Proof of posting shall be by affidavit of the person posting the notice, which affidavit shall include a copy of the notice posted and the date and place of its posting. Notice by posting may run concurrently with, or may follow, an attempt or attempts to provide notice by hand delivery or by mail as required under subsection (7).~~

~~(9) — Evidence that an attempt has been made to hand deliver or mail notice as provided in subsection (7), together with proof of posting as provided in subsection (8), shall be sufficient to show that the notice requirements of the code have been satisfied, without regard to whether or not the alleged violator actually received such notice.~~

~~(I) — Civil Penalties; Appeals; Failure to Pay/Correct.~~

~~(1) — Civil penalties assessed pursuant to this Article are due and payable to the City on or before the last day of the period allowed for the filing of an administrative hearing before a hearing officer or in any event no later than fourteen (14) days after the issuance of the notice, or if proper appeal is made, when the appeal has been finally decided if in a manner adverse to the cited violator.~~

~~(2) — A violator who has been served with a civil infraction notice shall elect either to:~~

~~a. — Pay the civil penalty in the manner indicated on the infraction notice, and correct the violation within the time specified on the notice; or~~

~~b. — Request an administrative hearing before a hearing officer to appeal the determination of the Code Enforcement Officer, which resulted in the issuance of the civil infraction notice.~~

~~(3) — An appeal for administrative hearing shall be accomplished by filing a request in writing to set the hearing for review and mailed to the Code Enforcement Clerk or his/her designee or to the address indicated on the notice, with a postmark indicating that it was marked not later than fourteen (14) days after the service of the citation notice.~~

~~(4) — If the named violator, after notice, fails to pay the civil penalty and correct the violation (within the time specified), or to timely request an administrative hearing before a hearing officer, such failure shall constitute a waiver of the violator's right to an administrative hearing before a hearing officer. A waiver of the right to an administrative hearing shall be treated as an admission of the violation and penalties may be assessed accordingly. The civil penalty shall be~~

~~an accruing fine amount which will be assessed daily for continuing violations which have not been corrected.~~

~~(j) — Scheduling and Conduct of Appeal Hearing:~~

- ~~(1) — Upon receipt of a named violator's timely request for an administrative hearing, the code/law enforcement officer or his/her designee shall set the matter down for hearing on the next available regularly scheduled hearing date or as soon thereafter as possible.~~
- ~~(2) — City staff shall send a notice of hearing by certified and regular mail to the violator at the last known address or the address contained on the appeal. The notice of hearing shall include the place, date and time of the hearing, as well as a copy of the civil violation notice.~~
- ~~(3) — An informational statement shall include:
 - ~~a. — Right of violator to be represented by an attorney.~~
 - ~~b. — Right of violator to present witnesses and evidence.~~
 - ~~c. — Notice that failure of violator to attend hearing may result in civil penalty being assessed in absence of the violator.~~
 - ~~d. — Notice that requests for continuances will not be considered if not received in writing by the code compliance officer at least five (5) calendar days prior to the date set for hearing.~~
 - ~~e. — Right to have a court reporter present at the violator's own expense.~~~~
- ~~(4) — The Hearing Officer shall conduct hearings on a regularly scheduled monthly basis, depending on the number of appeals, or more frequently upon request of the City Manager or his/her designee. No hearing shall be set sooner than twenty (20) days from the date of service of the notice of infraction.~~
- ~~(5) — A hearing date shall not be considered postponed or continued unless a request for continuance, showing good cause for such continuance, is received in writing by the hearing officer at least five (5) calendar days prior to the date set for the hearing. A decision shall be made at least two (2) working days before the meeting.~~
- ~~(6) — All hearings of the Hearing Officer shall be open to the public. All testimony shall be under oath. Assuming proper notice, a hearing may proceed in the absence of the named violator.~~
- ~~(7) — The proceedings at the hearing shall be recorded electronically or by a court stenographer and may be transcribed at the expense of the party requesting the transcript.~~

- ~~(8) The Code Enforcement Clerk shall provide clerical services as may be reasonably required by each Hearing Officer for the proper performance of their duties.~~
- ~~(9) Each case before a Hearing Officer shall be presented by the City staff.~~
- ~~(10) The hearing need not be conducted in accordance with the formal rules relating to evidence and witnesses, but fundamental due process shall be observed and shall govern the proceedings. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if the Hearing Officer finds it competent and reliable, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule to the contrary. Hearsay evidence may be accepted for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but such hearsay evidence shall not in and of itself be considered sufficient to support a finding or decision unless the evidence would be admissible over objections in a civil action.~~
- ~~(11) Each party shall have the right to call and examine witnesses, to introduce exhibits, to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though that matter was not covered in the direct examination, to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called that witness to testify, and to offer rebuttal of the evidence.~~
- ~~(12) The Hearing Officer shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law based on the evidence of record. In order to make a finding upholding the Code Enforcement Officer's decision, the Hearing Officer must find that the preponderance of the evidence indicates that the named violator was responsible for the violation of the relevant section of the code. The initial burden of proof shall be with the City to show by the greater weight of evidence that a code violation exists and that the alleged violator committed, or was responsible for maintaining or permitting the violation to continue. Once this burden has been met, it shall be the responsibility of the violator to rebut the evidence submitted by the City.~~
- ~~(13) The time for correction given by the code/law enforcement officer to the named violator and contained in the notice of violation is rebuttably presumed to have been a reasonable time for correction. Upon presentation of relevant evidence by the named violator that the time for correction was not reasonable, however, the Hearing Officer may make a predetermination as to the time period being insufficient. If the Hearing Officer determines that the time given for correction was insufficient, the penalty for a continuing violation shall be calculated from the date determined by the Hearing Officer to be reasonable time for correction.~~
- ~~(14) If the named violator is found guilty of the violation, he/she may be held liable for the reasonable cost of the administrative hearing, at the discretion of the Hearing Officer.~~

~~(15) After all evidence has been submitted and all testimony heard, the Hearing Officer shall issue findings of fact and conclusions of law orally, at the hearing, which shall then be incorporated in a written order affording the proper relief consistent with the powers granted in this Chapter. Such order may command a violator to take whatever steps are necessary to bring a violation into compliance by the date announced at the meeting and subsequently placed in the order. The order shall be announced orally at the meeting and within five (5) working days subsequent to the hearing shall be reduced to writing and mailed to the violator.~~

~~(16) The order of the Hearing Officer may require the violator to pay a fine according to the civil violation schedule, including administrative charges. Fines for repeat violations may be doubled.~~

~~(17) In determining any reduction of the fine, the Hearing Officer may consider the following factors:~~

- ~~1. The gravity of the violation.~~
- ~~2. Any actions taken by the violator to correct the violation.~~
- ~~3. Any previous violations committed by the violator.~~

~~(18) The Hearing Officer may reduce or eliminate a fine provided good cause is shown for such reductions.~~

~~(K) Civil Penalties and Related Terms Construed.~~

~~(1) Penalties for violations of the provisions to be enforced through this article shall be in the amounts prescribed in the schedule of civil penalties contained in Subsection (Q).~~

~~(2) For each day of a continued violation, an additional penalty in the same amount as that prescribed for in the original violation shall be added.~~

~~(3) For the first repeat violation, the amount of the civil penalty shall be double the amount of the penalty prescribed for the original violation in Subsection (Q). The amount of civil penalty due for each subsequent repeat violation shall be double the amount of penalty due for the first day of the immediately preceding violation, provided that the maximum penalty payable for any repeat violation shall be five hundred dollars (\$500.00).~~

~~(4) A repeat violation which remains uncorrected beyond the time prescribed for correction in the citation shall be treated as a continuing violation, and the additional penalty for each day of continued violation shall be double the amount due for the first day of the repeat violation, except as noted in (3) above.~~

~~(5) Continuing violation penalties shall accrue from the date of correction given in the citation until the correction is made or until a request for administrative~~

~~hearing is filed, whichever comes first. If the named violator requests an administrative hearing and loses the appeal, the Hearing Officer shall determine a reasonable time period within which correction of the violation must be made, based on the considerations set forth in Subsection (j)17. If correction is not made within the period set by the Hearing Officer, continuing violation penalties shall begin to accrue again after the time for correction has run.~~

- ~~(6) Civil penalties assessed pursuant to this chapter are due and payable to the City on the last day of the period allowed for the filing of an appeal from the hearing officer's decision, or, if a proper appeal is made, when the appeal has been finally decided adversely to the named violator.~~

~~(L) Recovery of Unpaid Civil Penalties; Unpaid Penalty to Constitute a Lien; Foreclosure:~~

- ~~(1) The City may institute proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction to compel payment of civil penalties.~~
- ~~(2) A certified copy of an order imposing a civil penalty shall be recorded in the public records and thereafter shall constitute a lien against the property on which the violation exists and upon any other real or personal property owned by the violator; upon petition to the circuit court, such order may be enforced in the same manner as a court judgment by the sheriffs of this State, including levy against the personal property, but such order shall not be deemed to be a court judgment except for enforcement purposes. A civil penalty imposed pursuant to this Article shall continue to accrue until the violator complies or until judgment is rendered in a suit to foreclose a lien filed pursuant to this Chapter, whichever occurs first. After three (3) months from the date of filing of any such lien which remains unpaid, the City may foreclose or otherwise execute the lien.~~
- ~~(3) No lien provided under this Article shall continue for a period longer than twenty (20) years after the certified copy of an order imposing a fine has been recorded, unless within that time an action to foreclose on a lien is commenced in a court of competent jurisdiction. In an action to foreclose on a lien, the prevailing party may recover interest and all costs, including a reasonable attorney's fee, incurred in the foreclosure. The continuation of the lien affected by the commencement of the action shall not be good against creditors or subsequent purchasers for valuable consideration without notice, unless a notice of lis pendens is recorded.~~

~~(M) Appeal of Order:~~

- ~~(1) An aggrieved party, including the City, may appeal an order of a Hearing Officer to the appellate division of the Circuit Court. Such an appeal shall not be a hearing de novo but shall be limited to appellate review of the record created before the Hearing Officer. An appeal shall be filed within thirty (30) calendar days of the issuance of the order sought to be overturned. Failure to~~

~~make such appeal within the prescribed thirty-day period shall render the findings of the Hearing Officer conclusive, binding and final.~~

- ~~(2) Unless the findings of the Hearing Officer are overturned in a proceeding held pursuant to this section, findings of the Hearing Officer shall be admissible in any proceeding to collect unpaid penalties.~~
- ~~(3) No aggrieved party other than the City may apply to the court for relief unless such party has first exhausted the remedies provided for in this Article and has taken all available steps provided in this Article. It is the intention of the City that all steps provided by this Article shall be taken before any application is made to the court for relief; and no application shall be made by any aggrieved party other than the City to a court for relief except from an order issued by a Hearing Officer pursuant to this Chapter. It is the intention of the City that, notwithstanding anything in this Article to the contrary, the City shall retain all rights and remedies otherwise available to it to secure compliance with or prevent violations of the code. For purposes of an appeal, the Code Enforcement Clerk shall make available, for public inspection and copying, the record upon which each final order of a Hearing Officer is based. The Code Enforcement Clerk shall make a reasonable charge commensurate with the cost for the preparation of the official record on appeal and transmittal thereof to the circuit court for making certified copies of any records or portion thereof.~~

~~(N) Provisions Contained Herein are Supplemental. Nothing contained in this Article shall prohibit the City from enforcing its Code by any other means. The enforcement procedures outlined herein are cumulative to all others and shall not be deemed to be prerequisites to filing suit for the enforcement of any section of this Code.~~

~~(O) Additional Enforcement Powers. In addition to the powers and authority given to the City and Hearing Officers pursuant to this article, the City may, in its discretion, exercise any powers given to municipalities by Florida Statutes, Chapter 162, as amended, and all other municipal powers.~~

~~(P) Schedule of Civil Penalties:~~

- ~~(1) The schedule of civil penalties, as may be amended from time to time by resolution of the City, shall be the same as set forth in Subsection (Q) of this Article. Repeat violations are doubled.~~
- ~~(2) For violations of any section of this Code for which a specific penalty is not prescribed in Subsection (Q), a penalty shall be imposed which shall not be less than twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) nor more than five hundred dollars (\$500.00) per day for a repeat violation. For the purposes of continuing violations, each day shall constitute a separate violation.~~

~~(Q) Civil penalties:~~

| Code | | Civil Penalty | |
|---|---|---------------|-----------|
| Code Section | Description of Violation | Noncontested | Contested |
| CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES | | | |
| GARBAGE AND TRASH | | | |
| 51.02 | Dumping on private property is prohibited | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 51.03 | Garbage placed in containers | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 51.20 (A) and (B) | Removal of building materials — Owner's responsibility | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 51.22 | Vegetative waste collection | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 51.23 | Bulk trash collection | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 51.35 — 51.40 | Required and approved trash containers, roll-offs, maintenance, replacement | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 51.41 — 51.44 | Garbage preparation; use of containers | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 51.45 | Construction receptacles | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 51.55 — 51.59 | Special refuse; recycling | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 51 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| ABANDONED PROPERTY JUNK, TRASH AND DEBRIS | | | |
| 90.02 | Allowing wrecked, dismantled, unlicensed or inoperable vehicles or vessels on public property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 90.03 | Allowing wrecked, dismantled, unlicensed, inoperable vehicles or vessels on private property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 90.07 | Allowing repair work outside an enclosed building; storage of dismantled vehicles | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 90.16 | Operating junk yard without obtaining required permits | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| | All other Section 90 violations | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| ANIMALS | | | |
| 91.18 | Unlawful retail sales of dogs and cats/failure to post or falsified Certificate of Source | 400.00 | 500.00 |
| FIRE SAFETY | | | |
| 96.02 | Inspection required | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 96.04 | Open burning prohibited | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 96.05(c) | Objects within 5 feet of fire hydrant | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 96.08(B), (C) | Storage, discharge or release of hazardous wastes | 100.00 | 150.00 |
| 96.16 | Adoption of N.F.P.A. — Any other violation of N.F.P.A. | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| GARBAGE ON PRIVATE PROPERTY | | | |
| 98.03(A) | Unlawful deposit of garbage | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 98.03(B) | Unlawful accumulation of garbage | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| LITTER ON PRIVATE PROPERTY | | | |
| 98.04(A) | Unlawful deposit of litter | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 98.04(B) | Unlawful existence of litter | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 98.04(C) | Property to remain free of litter | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| LITTER ON BUSINESS | | | |
| 98.05(A) | Unlawful deposit of litter in business | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 98.05(B) | Unlawful existence of litter in business | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| LITTER IN PUBLIC PLACE | | | |
| 98.06 | Unlawful to throw or deposit litter in a public place | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| LITTER ON STREET | | | |
| 98.07(A) | Unlawful deposit of litter on sidewalk, parking area, right of way or street | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.07(B) | Unlawful existence of litter on sidewalk, parking area, right of way, or street | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| LITTER ON VACANT LOTS | | | |
| 98.08(A) | Unlawful deposit of litter on private property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 98.08(B) | Unlawful existence of litter on private property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| LITTER IN WATER | | | |
| 98.10 | Unlawful to deposit litter in water | 150.00 | 225.00 |

| Code | | Civil Penalty | |
|---|---|---------------|-----------|
| Code Section | Description of Violation | Noncontested | Contested |
| 98.20 | Unlawful to throw or scatter litter on street, sidewalk, alley, public or private property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| THROWING LITTER FROM VEHICLES | | | |
| 98.21 | Unlawful for driver or passenger to throw or deposit litter on any street, public place, or private property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| VEHICLES TRANSPORTING REFUSE OR LOOSE MATERIALS | | | |
| 98.22(A) | Loose materials blowing or dropping from vehicles | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 98.22(C) | Required watertight vehicle to prevent odors and spillage | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.23 | Unlawful dropping litter from aircraft | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.23(A) | Waste tire dumpster required to register | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.23(B) | License required for waste tire collection | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.23(C)(1) | Transporting tires without license | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 98.23(C)(2) | Giving false identification | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 98.23(C)(3) | Unlawful subcontracting | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| | All other sections of Chapter 98 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| NOISE CONTROL | | | |
| 99.03 | Unlawful for a person to make unreasonably loud, excessive, or unnecessary noise | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| GENERAL REGULATIONS | | | |
| 100.01(A)(1) | Unlawful existence of weeds, undergrowth, brush trash or garbage on property | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.01(A)(2) | Unlawful existence of weeds, grass, plant life over 12 inches high | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.01(A)(3) | Unlawful existence of vegetative trash mixed with other refuse | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.01(A)(4) | Unlawful accumulations of bulky, heavy, unbundled or uncontainerized items | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.01(B) | The existence of vegetation trees and shrubs that impair traffic safety is prohibited | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 100.01(C) | The existence of any vegetation, trees or shrubs that interferes with street lights, signs, sidewalks or other public improvements is prohibited | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 100.01(D) | The adjoining public right of way must be maintained | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.01(E) | Pyramid or similar type markers are prohibited | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.02 | Unlawful debris, vegetation, or structure on property which may create a hazard in times of hurricane | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 100.03 | Unlawful accumulation of sand, rock, debris, or spoil on lot | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 100.04 | Seawall repair is required on all properties adjacent to sand, stream, or body of water | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.05(A), (B) | Unlawful to maintain standing water where mosquitoes may breed | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 100.06(A), (B) | Unlawful excavation which is in dangerous or unsafe condition; declared a nuisance | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 100.07(A) | Any portion of a lot not covered with a building, structure, parking area, or walkway shall be sodded or covered with appropriate ground cover | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 100.07(B) | All landscape materials shall be maintained in a healthy condition | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| EXTERIOR BUILDING WALLS | | | |
| 100.08(A) | All building walls shall be maintained in a secure and attractive manner. All defective material shall be repaired. All loose materials, cornices, trim and window frames shall not be deteriorated, shall be structurally sound, and exposed materials shall be painted. | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| PETS ON THE BEACH, PARKS OR RECREATIONAL FACILITIES | | | |
| | All sections of Chapter 101 except 101.27(B) and 101.36(E)(1) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 101.27(B) | No person shall bring into any park or municipal beach site, any cat, dog or other animal without a permit from the Parks and Recreation Department | 50.00 | 125.00 |

| Code | | Civil Penalty | |
|--|---|---------------|-----------|
| Code Section | Description of Violation | Noncontested | Contested |
| 101.36(E)(1) | No person shall bring into any recreational facility any cat, dog, or other animal | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| STREETS AND SIDEWALKS— CONSTRUCTION, EXCAVATION, AND REPAIR | | | |
| 102.01(A), (B) | Construction in right-of-way (permit required) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 102.17 | Construction on street (permit required) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 102.20 | Construction standards for public r o w | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 102.40 | Standards for movable newsracks | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 102.42 | Certificate of compliance for newsrack | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 102.43 | Newsrack standards | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 102.44 | Prohibited locations/site triangle requirement | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 102.46 | Abandonment | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 102 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| LOCAL BUSINESS TAX RECEIPT | | | |
| 110.02 | Local Business Tax Receipt required | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 110.08 | State license required | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 110.113 | Commercial vehicles — Required name (4 inches) to be displayed | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 110.116 | Failure to get preinspection required for new business | 75.00 | 150.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 110 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| ALARMS | | | |
| 112.21 | Failure to get alarm registration | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 112.23 | Failure to display alarm decal | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 112.26 | Failure to respond/verify alarm malfunction | 75.00 | 150.00 |
| 112.27 | Multiple malfunction violations | | |
| | 1st offense | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | 2nd offense | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | 3rd offense | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | 4th offense | 25.00 | 50.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 112 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| HANDBILLS/SOLICITING | | | |
| 118.02 | Unlawful distribution of handbills | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 118.03 | Unlawful soliciting and peddling | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 118.06 | Failure to pay a business tax for soliciting | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| | All other violations for Section 118 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| MOBILE FOOD TRUCKS | | | |
| 120.01 | Unlawful operation of a mobile food truck | | |
| | 1st offense | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| | 2nd offense | 425.00 | 500.00 |
| SKATEBOARDING | | | |
| 132.09 | Unlawful skateboarding/roller skating on sidewalk along Atlantic Avenue between State Road A-1-A and I-95 | 50.00 | 100.00 |
| | All other sections of City Code not mentioned | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| CITY LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS | | | |
| 4.3.2(A) — (C) | Use Determination — Allowed and incompatible uses | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 4.3.3(A) — (Z) | Special Uses/District Regulations | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 4.3.4(A) — (K) | Development Standards | | |
| | Setbacks; lot coverage; density; zoning matrix | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.4.2 — 4.4.28 | Permitted Uses | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| SIGNS | | | |
| 4.6.7(D)(2) | Garish signs | 100.00 | 175.00 |

| Code | | Civil Penalty | |
|-----------------------------|---|---------------|-----------|
| Code Section | Description of Violation | Noncontested | Contested |
| 4.6.7(E)(1) | Permits required for signs | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.7(F) | Sign area, height, setbacks | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.7(I) | Prohibited signs | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 4.6.7 | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| LIGHTING | | | |
| 4.6.8(A)(1) — (4) | Lighting requirements, height, lighting illumination standards | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| PARKING | | | |
| 4.6.9(B)(1) — (5) | Parking required | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.9 (C)(1) | Parking design | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.9 (C)(2) | Residential uses (spaces req'd) | | |
| | (a) Single family | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| | (b) Duplexes | 75.00 | 150.00 |
| | (c) Multifamily | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| | (d) Guest parking | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 4.6.9 (C) (3) | Commercial uses | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.9(C)(4) | Office uses | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.9(C)(5) | Industrial uses | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.9(C)(6) | Recreational/Community Facilities | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | All other violations of Section 4.6.9 | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.10 | Off loading requirements | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.11 | Outside storage of materials, supplies, products, and vehicles shall only be allowed if specified in the district | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 4.6.13(A) | Parking and storage of commercial vehicles, boats, trucks, and similar vehicles in a residential district | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 4.6.13(B) | Truck parking — Residential zones — Prohibited boat, trailer, RV storage in residential zones | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 4.6.14 | Site triangle visibility of intersections | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 4.6.15 | Pool enclosures, requirements | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| LANDSCAPING | | | |
| 4.6.16(A) | General requirements | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.16(B) | Applicability | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.16(C) | Compliance, review | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.16(D) | Site plan requirements | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.16(E) | Design standards | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.16(F) | Irrigation requirements | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 4.6.16(G) | Prohibited species | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 4.6.16(H) | Minimum requirements | | |
| | (1) Single Family (new) | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| | (2) Duplex (new) | 75.00 | 150.00 |
| | (3) Multi Family, Commercial, Industrial (new) | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | (4) Multi Family, Duplex, Commercial, and Industrial (existing) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| | (5) Sight distance req'd (ref. Section 4.6.14) | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 4.6.16(I) | Minimum requirements | | |
| | (1) General | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| | (2) Pruning/hatracking | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 4.6.17 | Soil erosion (all sections) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 5.1 | Subdivision Regulations (all sections) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 5.3 | Right of Way Dedication (all sections) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| WORK IN PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY | | | |

| Code Code Section | Description of Violation | Civil Penalty | |
|--|--|---------------|-----------|
| | | Noncontested | Contested |
| 6.3.2 | Permit required for work in public right-of-way | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| SIDEWALK CAFE REQUIREMENTS | | | |
| 6.3.3(A) | Permit required | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 6.3.3(F) | Design Guidelines | | |
| 6.3.3(F)(1) — (1.3) | Path of egress, no table zones, hours of operation, cleanliness, etc. | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| BUILDING REGULATIONS | | | |
| 7.1.2 | Required plans and permit | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.1.3 | Florida Building Code (all sections) | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.1.3(B)(1) — (4) | Florida Building Code Standards | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.1.4 | Property Maintenances; Building Standards | | |
| 7.1.4(C)(1) | Buildings | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | (a), (b) Safety | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 7.1.4(C)(2) | Debris/Storage on partially vacant lot | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 7.1.4(D)(1) | Hurricane precautions | | |
| | (a) Required canvas awnings, tents to be removed | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | (b) Construction materials to be secured | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| | (c) Outdoor furniture and materials to be secured | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 7.1.4(D)(2)(b) | Required repairs after hurricane (unsafe structure) | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 7.1.5(B)(1)(2) | Required numbers on buildings | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.1.5(C) | Required display and size of numbers — Visible from street | 50.00 | 125.00 |
| 7.1.7 | Seawalls required to be in good repair | 100.00 | 150.00 |
| ELECTRICAL CODE | | | |
| 7.2.1(A)(1); (2) | Required electrician for work | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.2.1(A)(1); (3) | Required sign electrician for work | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.2.1(B) | National Elec. Code and National Fire Code adopted by reference violations | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.2.1(C) | Allowing another person to obtain permit or do work under your license | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 7.2.2(A)(1) — (3) | Required plans and installation methods | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 7.2.2(B) | Concealing work before final | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 7.2.2(C) | Using non approved apparatus/fixtures | 200.00 | 275.00 |
| 7.2.5(C) | Interfering with enforcement | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| | All other Section 7 violations | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| BUILDING MAINTENANCE | | | |
| 7.8.3 | Buildings shall be maintained by Owner | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| STANDARD HOUSING CODE THROUGH LDR SECTIONS 7.4.1 AND 7.8.3 | | | |
| 101.4.1 — 101.4.4 | Repairs required on existing buildings | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 101.6 | Maintenance of buildings; safeguards; owner responsible | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 103.2 | Unsafe residential buildings to be repaired or demolished | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| 301 | Occupying or allowing occupation of a substandard building | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 302.1 — 302.4 | Required sanitary & plumbing facilities | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 302.5.1 — 302.5.6 | Required heating facilities | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 302.6 | Required kitchen facilities | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 303.1 | Required windows | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 303.2 | Required ventilation | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 303.3 | Required bathroom ventilation | 100.00 | 175.00 |

| Code Section | Description of Violation | Civil Penalty | |
|---------------------|---|---------------|-----------|
| | | Noncontested | Contested |
| 303.4 | Required electrical outlets | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 305.1 — 305.23.2 | Doors, windows and screen requirements | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 306.1 — 306.4 | Minimum space requirements | 100.00 | 175.00 |
| 307.1 — 307.6 | Sanitation requirements for multi-family | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 308.1 — 308.7 | Rooming house requirements | 150.00 | 225.00 |
| 309.1 — 309.6 | Dangerous dwellings | 250.00 | 325.00 |
| | All other sections of Standard Housing Code not mentioned | 100.00 | 175.00 |

Sec. 37.46. — NOTICES.

- (A) — All notices required by this part shall be provided to the alleged violator by:
- (1) — Certified mail, return receipt requested, provided if such notice is sent under this paragraph to the owner of the property in question at the address listed in the tax collector's office for tax notices, and at any other address provided to the local government by such owner and is returned as unclaimed or refused, notice may be provided by posting as described below and by first class mail directed to the addresses furnished to the local government with a properly executed proof of mailing or affidavit confirming the first class mailing;
 - (2) — Hand delivery by the Sheriff or other Law Enforcement Officer, Code Inspector, or other person designated by the local governing body;
 - (3) — Leaving the notice at the violator's usual place of residence with any person residing therein who is above fifteen (15) years of age and informing such person of the contents of the notice;
 - (4) — In the case of commercial premises, leaving the notice with the manager or other person in charge.
- (B) — In addition to providing notice as set forth in subsection (A), at the option of the Code Enforcement Board, notice may also be served by publication or posting, as follows:
- (1) — (a) — Such notice shall be published once during each week for four (4) consecutive weeks (four publications being sufficient) in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the Code Enforcement Board is located. The newspaper shall meet such requirements as a prescribed under F.S. Chapter 50, for legal and official advertisements.
(b) — Proof of publication shall be made as provided in F.S. Sections 50.041 and 50.051.
 - (2) — (a) — In lieu of publication as described in paragraph (1), such notice may be posted at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing, or prior to the expiration of any deadline contained in the notice, in at least two (2) locations, one of which shall be the property upon which the violation is alleged to exist and the other of which shall be at City Hall.
(b) — Proof of posting shall be by affidavit of the person posting the notice, which affidavit shall include a copy of the notice posted and the date and places of its posting.
(c) — Evidence that an attempt has been made to hand deliver or mail notice as set forth herein, together with proof of publication or posting as set forth herein shall be sufficient to show that the notice requirements of this part have been met, without regard to whether or not the alleged violator actually received such notice.